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Dear Shareholders, 

I am pleased to present the 2024 Annual Report which is my first as Managing Director of the Company.  
I welcome the opportunity, together with the Management Team, to drive the future success of the 
business. 

Strategy  
The Company was fortunate enough to be presented the transformational opportunity to acquire the 
Ulytau Uranium Project located in Kazakhstan, the world’s leading Uranium producer.  

Following the announcement, we immediately laid out our strategic growth plans and began to execute 
it by applying for a significant contiguous and highly prospective tenement position.  

As of today we have two new contiguous tenements granted and our Category 4 geological works 
approved for the Ulytau tenement.  

We have worked tirelessly to develop a constructive relationship with our key stakeholders, particularly 
those within the village of Aksuyek, being our closest community and base of operations for our planned 
work programs. As a sign of the commitment and alignment of both parties, we were pleased to sign a 
social agreement with the district Government, which provided the framework for C29 to assist the village 
of Aksuyek with projects aligned to the social development of the community.  

We look forward to commencing our exploration drilling shortly, where we are in the enviable position to 
have walk up targets.   

Executive team changes 
In March 2024, I was appointed Managing Director following the resignation of the Company’s Executive 
Corporate Director, Jeremy King. Soon after we conducted a strategic review, which lead to an internal 
restructure of the Management team, resulting in significant streamlining and cost reductions. Central 
to this, we welcomed the appointment of Ms Ailsa Osborne as Chief Financial Officer and Company 
Secretary in June 2024. 
 

Outlook  
We will continue to focus our efforts on advancing exploration at our newly acquired Ulytau Uranium 
Project with the commencement of the initial drill program imminent. 

Our success would not be possible without our people or the support of our shareholders. On behalf of 
the Board, I extend my gratitude to our people for their commitment and contributions, and we thank our 
shareholders, partners and communities for their ongoing support 

 

Shannon Green | Managing Director 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity 
(referred to hereafter as the 'consolidated entity') consisting of C29 Metals Limited (referred to hereafter 
as the 'company' or 'parent entity') and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 
30 June 2024. 

DIRECTORS 
The following persons were directors of C29 Metals Limited during the whole of the financial year and up 
to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Director Position Appointed Resigned 
David Lees Non-Executive Chairman 1 July 2021  
Jamie Myers Non-Executive Director 30 November 2022  
Shannon Green Managing Director 15 March 2024  
Jeremy King Executive Corporate Director 8 December 2022 15 March 2024 
Tianjiao Yang Non-Executive Director 30 November 2022 6 July 2023 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the year was the exploration of mining projects. 
 

DIVIDENDS 
There were no dividends paid, recommended, or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
During the year the Company continued systematic exploration over its portfolio of assets, with a focus 
on the Company’s Mayfield Project located in Queensland.     
 
During the last quarter of 2024 the Company completed the acquisition of the Ulytau Uranium Project in 
Kazakhstan. 
 
Details of the Company Projects and activities is provided below. 
 

Ulytau Uranium Project, Kazakhstan 
Background 
On 20 March 2024 the Company announced the acquisition of the Ulytau Uranium Project.  The Company 
completed the transaction on 14 May 2024 with the issue of 42,857,142 consideration shares at $0.07 for 
a total consideration value of $3,000,000.  

The Ulytau Project is located in the Almaty Region of Southern Kazakhstan approximately 15 km southwest 
of the Bota-Burum mine, one of the largest uranium deposits mined in the former Soviet Union.  
Exploration for uranium has been carried out in the area since 1953. Production of Uranium at the Bota 
Burum mine next to the village of Aksuyek commenced in 1956 and continued until 19911.  Refer Figure 1 
below for the Ulytau project location in relation to other Kazakhstan Uranium Mines. 
 
Total mined reserves of Bota Burum are quoted at 20,000 tonnes of Uranium (44 million pounds)1,2. 
 

1- https://zakon.uchet.kz/rus/history/P010001006_/14.04.2010 - Translated from Russian, accessed 19 07 24. 

2-  https://uk.wikipedia.org/wiki/Рудник_Бота-Бурум - Translated from Russian, accessed 19 07 24. 
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Figure 1 – Ulytau project location in relation to other Kazakhstan Uranium mines. 
 
Post balance date the Company announced the application and subsequent granting of 2 licences 
expanding the area surrounding the Ulytau project by a further 252km2 along the interpreted mineralised 
trend.  Refer Figure 2 below. 
 

 
Figure 2 – The interpreted mineralised Uranium trend with the newly granted licences  
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The mineralised trend outside of the ~25sqkm Ulytau licence area has been identified through analysis 
of Sentinel 2 satellite imagery combined with historical drilling data.  C29 is confident that the new 
application areas cover ~18km of highly prospective Uranium mineralisation trend. 

Local Community Support 
The Company held a community consultation day at the local community of Aksuyek, population ~700 
people, located ~20km from Ulytau project area. The local community of Aksuyek have shown their strong 
support for the Company’s planned exploration programs. Aksuyek will provide a base of operations for 
the work programs and can provide many of the required support services to the Company.  

Post balance date a second community consultation was held subsequent to which a social support 
agreement was signed with the district government providing the framework for the Company to assist 
the village of Aksuyek with projects aligned to the social development of the community. The signing of 
this very important agreement demonstrates the commitment by both parties to work together to ensure 
mutually beneficial outcomes are sustainably delivered into the future. 

Exploration Activities 
The Company commenced initial exploration activities post balance date in August 2024 after receiving 
Category four (4) exploration approval.  The initial geological program consisted of tenement wide 
mapping and soil sampling focusing on verification of historical shallow high-grade results and 
identification of the extent of the surface outcropping and shallow high-grade uranium across the 
tenement.  

The geology team utilised a handheld XRF unit to provide real time geological information to the team 
and valuable geological data that will assist with the Initial drill hole targeting and methodology. Results 
of this initial program are pending. 

The Company is progressing the Category two (2) drilling approval which is at an advanced stage. 

Mayfield Project, Queensland 
Background 
The Mayfield Project is located approximately 150 km South-East of Mount Isa within the Mary Kathleen 
Zone of the Eastern Succession.  

The project area consists of a single large tenement and a smaller single block, with a combined area of 
91 km2, EPM19483 Mayfield. 

Exploration Activities 
During the year the Company undertook a maiden drilling programme at its 100% owned Mayfield base 
metals exploration project in the worldclass eastern fold-belt of the Proterozoic Mount Isa Inlier in 
Queensland. 

The Company’s IP survey conducted in May 2023, the result of which were released on 6 July 2023, 
identified significant multiple chargeable and resistive anomalies over several of the previously 
delineated gravity and magnetic targets and was extended to cover strong chargeable anomalies 
heading north towards the Trekelano Mine pit. The extension lines for the Trekelano South prospect 
returned even stronger chargeability anomalism open to the north. 
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The Company’s maiden Reverse Circulation (RC) drill programme was designed to test the best targets 
identified.  Drilling commenced in December of 2023, 7 Reverse Circulation (RC) drill holes were 
completed with a total of 2,488 metres drilled. Refer below for the 3 best results. 
 
Highlights 

 12m @ 1.55% Cu, 0.17ppm Au from 48m, including 3m @ 4.88% Cu and 0.40ppm Au from 56m 
(MFRC008). 

 10m @ 0.50% Cu from 212m, and 3m @ 0.71% Cu from 229m (MFRC002); (within wider low-grade 
intercept of 75m @ 0.21% Cu from 159m)  

 2m @ 0.56% Cu from 85m (MFRC007); (within wider low-grade intercept of 34m @ 0.15% Cu from 
65m) 

 
All results from this initial drill program are open up and down-dip, and along strike, with anomalous gold 
(to 0.61 ppm Au max) associated with all copper intersections. Copper-gold mineralisation at Mayfield is 
typically associated with a large ‘redrock’ alteration halo, which is a common feature of Iron Ore-Copper-
Gold (IOCG) systems, where retrograde sulfide mineralisation typically uses the same ‘plumbing’ for the 
copper-gold mineralisation. The discovery of wide copper-gold intervals in three separate settings at 
Mayfield is considered an excellent outcome in respect of initial drill testing of potentially large 
mineralising systems with likely extensive extent. 
 

Sampsons Tank Project, New South Wales 
Background 
The Company is targeting high-grade deformed and remobilized Besshi-type volcanic associated 
massive sulphide (VAMS) Cu-Au deposits. The project sits in an emerging high-grade copper district and 
shares key geological, geophysical, and geochemical analogous to the nearby Tritton Cu Mine, Collerina 
Cu, Tottenham Cu and Iron Duke Cu projects. 
 

Torrens Project, South Australia 
Background 
The tenement resides within the Olympic Dam iron oxide copper gold (uranium) (“IOCG”) province of the 
Stuart Shelf in central South Australia. The IOCG province is a Palaeoproterozoic and Mesoproterozoic 
tectonic and lithostratigraphic domain that extends for some 700km along the eastern margin of the 
Gawler Craton. 
 
The Company is reviewing the feasibility of commencing exploration on this tenement, as such the 
Company has recognised an impairment expense at 30 June 2024.  

FINANCIAL POSITION 
The company made a loss for the year of $ 3,421,399 (2023: loss $2,642,035). Cash reserves were 
$2,227,636 (30 June 2023: $1,305,671) representing an increase of $921,965. 
 

CORPORATE ACTIVITIES 
On 6 July 2023, Mr Tianjiao Yang resigned as a non-executive director. 
 
On 13 September 2023, the Company announced it had received commitments for a placement of 
7,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares at a price of 7.5 cents per share to sophisticated, professional and 
other exempt investors to raise A$525,000 (before costs).  
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ARQ Capital Pty Ltd has been engaged to act as Lead Manager to the Placement.  Fees payable are 6% 
across all funds raised and a $10,000 management fee.   
 
Net proceeds of the Placement will primarily be directed towards a maiden drill program of its Mayfield 
project in Mt Isa, Queensland Australia, continued work on its NSW Sampsons Tank copper project and its 
other projects and for funding working capital. Up to the reporting date, all the funds has been received. 
 
On 17 November 2023, the Company held its Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were conducted by 
a poll and carried with the exception of resolution 9. 
 
On 20 March 2024, the Company announced it had entered into a announce it has entered into a binding 
share sale and purchase agreement (Acquisition Agreement) with CA Metals Pty Ltd (CA Metals) and 
Ulytau Resources Ltd (Ulytau Resources) to acquire a 100% legal and beneficial interest in a granted 
exploration licence located in Kazakhstan (Ulytau Uranium Project). 
 
The consideration under the Acquisition Agreement is comprised of:  

a) subject to shareholder approval, $1,500,000 worth of shares to the shareholders of CA Metals 
(or their nominees) at settlement of the Acquisition Agreement;  

b) subject to shareholder approval, $1,500,000 worth of shares to the shareholders of Ulytau 
Resources (or their nominees) at settlement of the Acquisition Agreement; and  

c) subject to shareholder approval, $1,000,000 worth of shares to the shareholders of Ulytau 
Resources (or their nominees) upon the Company announcing a JORC 2012 Inferred Mineral 
Resource Estimate of 3,000,000 Tonnes @ 0.2% U308 on the Ulytau Project.  

(together, the Consideration Securities).  
 
The number of Consideration Securities to be issued will be determined based on a deemed issue price 
equal to the greater of the 20-day VWAP of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX and $0.07 each. 
 
On 20 March 2024, the Company announced it received firm commitments from sophisticated and 
professional investors to raise $3,000,000 (before costs) through a two- tranche placement of a total of 
42,857,143 fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (Placement Shares) and an issue price 
of $0.07 each (Placement). The Placement will be completed as follows:  

a) 8,095,036 Placement Shares will be issued pursuant to the Company’s placement capacity under 
Listing Rule 7.1 and 5,304,964 Placement Shares will be issued pursuant to the Company 
placement capacity under Listing Rule 7.1A; and  

b) 29,457,143 Placement Shares will be issued subject to shareholder approval and the Company 
next general meeting (General Meeting). The issue price of $0.07 represents a 0% discount to the 
last trading price of $0.07 on 13 March 2024 and a premium of 6% to the 15-day volume weighted 
average price of $0.066.  

 
The Company has engaged ARQ Capital Pty Ltd (Lead Manager) to manage the Placement. The Lead 
Manager (or its nominees) will receive a capital raising fee of 6% on the amount raised under the 
Placement and a management fee of $15,000. 
 
Funds will be directed towards exploration activities in the Ulytau Uranium Project, costs of the acquisition 
and working capital. 
 
On 20 March 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Mr Shannon Green as Managing 
Directors and the resignation of Mr Jeremy King. 
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On 6 May 2024, the Company held an Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders, all resolutions were 
conducted by a poll and carried.  
 
On 4 June 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Ms Ailsa Osborne as Company Secretary 
and the resignation of Mr Mauro Piccini as Company Secretary. 
 
On 5 June 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Ms Ailsa Osborn as Chief Financial Officer. 
 
On 5 June 2024, the Company announced the change of company office. 
 
On 11 June 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Mr Alan Marlow as the Company’s 
Geological Competent Person (CP).  
 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
On 24 July 2024, the Company announced the lodgement of two (2) new licence applications with the 
Kazakhstan ministry of Natural Resources.  The Southern application (application number 1905-EA, 
lodged 17/07/2024) is contiguous with the Ulytau licence area, and sits immediately to the South and East 
of the Ulytau Uranium project tenement boundaries. The Southern application area is ~213 km2.  
 
The Northern application (application number application number 1913-EA, lodged 17/07/24) sits to the 
north of the Ulytau Uranium project tenement and immediately North of the historic Bota Burum Uranium 
mine. The Northern licence application area is ~39 km2.  

On 1 August 2024, the Company announced the granting of the Southern application (application 
number 1905-EA, lodged 17/07/2024). 

On 4 September, the Company announced the granting of the Northern application (application number 
1913-EA, lodged 17/07/2024). 

There have been no other transactions or events of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of 
the Directors of the Company, to significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years. 
 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results 
of operations have not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to 
result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity. 
 

MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS 
The Company’s exploration and evaluation operations will be subject to the normal risks of mineral 
exploration. The material business risks that may affect the Company are summarised below. 
 
Future capital raisings 
The Company’s ongoing activities may require substantial further financing in the future.  The Company 
will require additional funding to continue its exploration and evaluation operations on its projects with 
the aim to identify economically mineable reserves and resources.  Any additional equity financing may 
be dilutive to shareholders, may be undertaken at lower prices than the current market price and debt 
financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants which limit the Company’s operations and 
business strategy. Although the Directors believe that additional capital can be obtained, no assurances 
can be made that appropriate capital or funding, if and when needed, will be available on terms 
favourable to the Company or at all. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, 
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it may be required to reduce, delay or suspend its operations and this could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s activities and could affect the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Exploration risk 
The success of the Company depends on the delineation of economically mineable reserves and 
resources, access to required development capital, movement in the price of commodities, securing and 
maintaining title to the Company’s exploration and mining tenements and obtaining all consents and 
approvals necessary for the conduct of its exploration activities. Exploration on the Company’s existing 
tenements may be unsuccessful, resulting in a reduction in the value of those tenements, diminution in 
the cash reserves of the Company and possible relinquishment of the tenements. The exploration costs 
of the Company are based on certain assumptions with respect to the method and timing of exploration. 
By their nature, these estimates and assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties and, 
accordingly, the actual costs may materially differ from these estimates and assumptions.  

Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the cost estimates and the underlying assumptions will be 
realised in practice, which may materially and adversely affect the Company’s viability. If the level of 
operating expenditure required is higher than expected, the financial position of the Company may be 
adversely affected.  

Feasibility and development risks 
It may not always be possible for the Company to exploit successful discoveries which may be made in 
areas in which the Company has an interest. Such exploitation would involve obtaining the necessary 
licences or clearances from relevant authorities that may require conditions to be satisfied and/or the 
exercise of discretions by such authorities. It may or may not be possible for such conditions to be 
satisfied. Further, the decision to proceed to further exploitation may require participation of other 
companies whose interests and objectives may not be the same as the Company’s. There is a complex, 
multidisciplinary process underway to complete a feasibility study to support any development proposal. 
There is a risk that the feasibility study and associated technical works will not achieve the results 
expected. There is also a risk that, even if a positive feasibility study is produced, the project may not be 
successfully developed for commercial or financial reasons. 

Regulatory risk 
The Company’s operations are subject to various Commonwealth, State and Territory and local laws and 
plans, including those relating to mining, prospecting, development permit and licence requirements, 
industrial relations, environment, land use, royalties, water, native title and cultural heritage, mine safety 
and occupational health. Approvals, licences and permits required to comply with such rules are subject 
to the discretion of the applicable government officials.  

No assurance can be given that the Company will be successful in maintaining such authorisations in 
full force and effect without modification or revocation. To the extent such approvals are required and 
not retained or obtained in a timely manner or at all, the Company may be limited or prohibited from 
continuing or proceeding with exploration. The Company’s business and results of operations could be 
adversely affected if applications lodged for exploration licences are not granted. Mining and exploration 
tenements are subject to periodic renewal. The renewal of the term of a granted tenement is also subject 
to the discretion of the relevant Minister. Renewal conditions may include increased expenditure and work 
commitments or compulsory relinquishment of areas of the tenements comprising the Company’s 
projects. The imposition of new conditions or the inability to meet those conditions may adversely affect 
the operations, financial position and/or performance of the Company. 
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Mineral resource estimates are expressions of judgement based on knowledge, experience and industry 
practice. These estimates were appropriate when made but may change significantly when new 
information becomes available. There are risks associated with such estimates. Mineral resource 
estimates are necessarily imprecise and depend to some extent on interpretations, which may 
ultimately prove to be inaccurate and require adjustment. Adjustments to resource estimates could 
affect the Company’s future plans and ultimately its financial performance and value. Gold, copper, 
and Uranium metal price fluctuations, as well as increased production costs or reduced throughput 
and/or recovery rates, may render resources containing relatively lower grades uneconomic and may 
materially affect resource estimations. 

Environmental risk 
The operations and activities of the Company are subject to the environmental laws and regulations of 
Australia and Kazakhstan. As with most exploration projects and mining operations, the Company’s 
operations and activities are expected to have an impact on the environment, particularly if advanced 
exploration or mine development proceeds. The Company attempts to conduct its operations and 
activities to the highest standard of environmental obligation, including compliance with 
all environmental laws and regulations. The Company is unable to predict the effect of 
additional environmental laws and regulations which may be adopted in the future, including 
whether any such laws or regulations would materially increase the Company’s cost of doing 
business or affect its operations in any area. However, there can be no assurances that new 
environmental laws, regulations or stricter enforcement policies, once implemented, will not oblige 
the Company to incur significant expenses and undertake significant investments which could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and performance.  

Availability of equipment and contractors 
Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, appropriate equipment, including drill rigs, was in short supply. There 
was also high demand for contractors providing other services to the mining industry. The COVID-19 
pandemic only served to exacerbate these issues. Consequently, there is a risk that the Company may 
not be able to source all the equipment and contractors required to fulfil its proposed activities. There 
is also a risk that hired contractors may underperform or that equipment may malfunction, either of 
which may affect the progress of the Company’s activities. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 
The economic entity holds participating interests in a number of mining and exploration tenements. The 
various authorities granting such tenements require the tenement holder to comply with the terms of 
the grant of the tenement and all directions given to it under those terms of the tenement. There were 
no breaches of these regulations during the 2024 financial year. 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 forms part of the Directors’ Report and is included on page 23. 
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DIRECTOR AND COMPANY SECRETARY INFORMATION 
Mr David Lees | Non-Executive Chairman 
Appointed 1 July 2021 

Qualifications: Bachelor of Economics, Post graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment 
(FINSIA) 
Other current directorships: Sultan Resources Limited (ASX: SLZ) 
Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 
Interests in Shares and Options over Shares in the Company: 141,667 fully paid ordinary shares and 
1,950,000 options held indirectly 

Mr Lees has over 20 years’ experience in the Australian financial services industry starting his career as a 
stockbroker before moving into investment and funds management. These roles have given David 
extensive experience in capital markets with a diverse skillset covering investment management, 
business development and corporate governance. Mr Lees holds a Bachelor of Economics from Murdoch 
University and a post graduate diploma in Applied Finance and Investment (FINSIA). 

Mr Jamie Myers | Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 30 November 2022 

Qualifications: Nil 
Other current directorships: NorTech Strategic Minerals Limited, Alice Queen Limited (ASX:AQX) 
Former directorships (last 3 years): Pathfinder Resources Ltd (ASX: PF1) 
Interests in Shares and Options over Shares in the Company: 4,400,000 shares and 750,000 options 
held indirectly 

Mr Myers has over 15 years in equities dealing and corporate advisory experience. Previously the co-
founder and Executive Director of iiZen Equites before a corporate exit to Paterson’s Securities, Mr Myers 
has held equity advisory roles at iiZen Equities, Paterson’s Securities and Ord Minnett Limited and is 
Founder and Executive Director of Molo Capital. Mr Myers has extensive small cap experience and will be 
valuable to the Company as it proceeds to develop its asset.  

Mr Shannon Green | Managing Director 
Appointed 15 March 2024 

Qualifications: Qld SSE Mine Managers Certificate, Graduate Diploma Mining Engineering, Diploma of 
Mining (Surface & underground) and a Diploma of (Finance) 
Other current directorships: NorTech Strategic Minerals Limited, XLR8 Metals Limited 
Former directorships (last 3 years): Pathfinder Resources Ltd (ASX: PF1)  
Interests in Shares and Options over Shares in the Company: nil shares and 1,500,000 options held 
indirectly 

Mr Green has considerable corporate experience includes, project transactions, capital raisings, 
marketing, technical and commercial due diligence experience.  Mr Green has over 20 years mining and 
project development, corporate, resource development and mining operations experience, with 
extensive experience working in Africa and Australia having managed several significant projects from 
Feasibility through construction and into operation and held senior leadership roles with several 
Australian iron ore and gold mining operations. 
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Mr Jeremy King | Executive Corporate Director 
Appointed 8 December 2022, Resigned 15 March 2024 

Mr King is a corporate advisor and lawyer with over 16 years’ experience in domestic and international 
legal, financial and corporate matters. Mr King spent several years in London where he worked with Allen 
& Overy LLP and Debevoise & Plimpton LLP and has extensive corporate experience, particularly in relation 
to cross-border private equity, leveraged buy-out acquisitions and acting for financial institutions and 
corporate issuers in respect of various equity capital raising. 

Mr Tianjiao Yang | Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 30 November 2022, Resigned 6 July 2023 

Mr Yang has extensive experience in equity markets, with particular focus on mergers and acquisitions in 
the emerging market space, restructuring and capital sourcing from the Asian region. He has a strong 
network base with ultra-high net worth investors in China and Singapore. Mr Yang has been a founding 
investor in several early-stage resource projects in China which ultimately achieved production status. 
In addition, he has provided several Australian junior mining companies significant funding as part of 
cornerstone investment support. 

Ms Ailsa Osborne| Company Secretary 
Appointed 4 June 2024 

Ms Osborne has more than 20 years’ experience as a financial professional, including more than 15 years 
in the resource industry in Australia and internationally. Ms Osborne has held CFO and Company 
Secretary roles with a number of ASX listed companies.  

Ms Osborne’s qualifications include, CPA, BComm Accounting and Business Law, and a Graduate Diploma 
of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk Management. 

Mr Mauro Piccini | Company Secretary 
Resigned 4 June 2024 

Mr Piccini spent 9 years at the ASX and possesses core competencies in publicly listed and unlisted 
company secretarial, administration and governance disciplines. Mr Piccini is a Chartered Accountant 
(CA) and a member of the Governance Institute of Australia (GIA).  

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
The number of meetings of the company's Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the year ended 30 
June 2024, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Director Directors’ meetings 

Held while in office Attended 
Shannon Green - - 
Jamie Myers 1 1 
David Lees 1 1 
Jeremy King 1 1 
Tianjiao Yang - - 

During the year the Directors held a number of informal meetings, with 11 formal resolutions made by way 
of circular resolution from 1 March 2024 to 30 June 2024, with a total of 15 formal resolutions made by way 
of circular resolution for the year. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 
The report details the nature and amount of remuneration for the Key management personnel of C29 
Metals Limited in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. It 
also provides the remuneration disclosures required by Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 of AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures, which have been transferred to the Remuneration report in accordance with Corporations 
regulation 2M.6.04. For the purposes of this report, the term “executive” encompasses all directors of the 
Company. 

Remuneration consists of a fixed remuneration and a long-term incentive portion as considered 
appropriate. The Board believes that options are an effective remuneration tool which preserves the 
cash reserves of the company whilst providing valuable remuneration. 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
 Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
 Details of remuneration
 Executive service agreements
 Non-executive director service contracts
 Share-based compensation
 Additional information
 Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
The Board has structured a remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary 
to the reward strategy of the consolidated entity and company. 

The reward framework is designed to align rewards to shareholders' interests. The Board have 
considered that it should seek to enhance shareholders' interests by: 

 focus on sustained growth in shareholder wealth through growth in share price, and delivering
constant or increasing return on assets as well as focusing the directors on key non-financial
drivers of value; and

 attracting and retains high calibre executives.

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and 
executive director remuneration is separate. 

Non-executive directors’ remuneration 
Non-executive directors' fees are paid within an aggregate limit which is approved by the shareholders 
from time to time.  Retirement payments, if any, are agreed to be determined in accordance with the 
rules set out in the Corporations Act at the time of the Directors retirement or termination.  Non-
Executive Directors remuneration may include an incentive portion of bonuses and/or options as 
considered appropriate by the Board, which may be subject to shareholder approval in accordance 
with the ASX listing rules. 

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in 
which it is apportioned amongst directors is reviewed annually. The Board considers the amount of 
director fees being paid by comparable companies with similar responsibilities and the experience of 
the non-executive directors when undertaking the annual review process. 
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The Company determines the maximum amount for remuneration, including thresholds for share-
based remuneration, for directors by resolution. Currently, the maximum amount of remuneration 
allocated to all non-executive directors approved by shareholders is $300,000. Further details regarding 
components of director and executive remuneration are provided in the notes to the financial 
statements.  
 
Executive remuneration 
In determining the level and make up of executive remuneration, the Board negotiates a remuneration 
to reflect the market salary for a position and individual of comparable responsibility and experience. 
Due to the limited size of the Company and of its operations and financial affairs, the use of a separate 
remuneration committee is not considered appropriate.  Remuneration is regularly compared with the 
external market by participation in industry surveys and during recruitment activities generally.  If 
required, the Board may engage an external consultant to provide independent advice in the form of a 
written report detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable executive roles. 
 
Company performance, shareholder wealth and director and executive remuneration 
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders, 
directors and executives. The achievement of this aim has been through the issue of options to directors 
to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The recipients of the options are 
responsible for growing the Company and increasing shareholder value. If they achieve this goal, the 
value of the options granted to them will also increase. Therefore, the options provide an incentive to 
the recipients to remain with the Company and to continue to work to enhance the Company’s value. 
 
Use of remuneration consultants 
The company has not made use of remuneration consultants during the current or prior financial years. 
 
Voting and comments made at the company's 17h November 2023 Annual General Meeting ('AGM') 
On 17 November 2023 the Remuneration Report was approved unanimously on poll. The poll results were 
99.92% in support of the adoption of the remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2023. The 
company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices. 
 

Details of remuneration 
Amounts of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consolidated entity are set out in the 
following tables. 

30 June 2024 
Short Term Employment 

Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits 
Termination 

Benefits 
Equity Settled 

Payments Total 

 
Salary & 

Fees Bonus 
Super- 

annuation Salary Options  
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Directors       
David Lees 72,000 - 7,920 - 18,103 (iii) 98,023 
Jamie Myers 40,000 - 4,400 - 27,155(iii) 71,555 
Shannon Green (i) 87,119 - 8,823 - 35,906 (iv) 131,848 
Jeremy King (ii) 75,000 - 8,250 50,000 27,155 (iii) 160,405 
Tianjiao Yang(iii) - - - - - - 
Total Remuneration 274,119 - 29,393 50,000 108,319 461,831 

(i) appointed 15 March 2024. 
(ii) resigned 15 March 2024.  
(iii) resigned 6 July 2023 
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(iv) On 12 December 2023, C29 Metals issued a total of 2,000,000 Options to Directors based upon the approval from shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting. The shares issued comprised 750,000 options each to each Jamie Myers and Jeremy King and 500,000 
options to and David Lees in accordance with section 208 of the Corporations Act and Listing Rule 10.11. 

(v) On 6 May 2024, C29 Metals issued a total of 1,500,000 Options to Shannon Green upon the approval from shareholders at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 6 May 2024. The Options were issued in accordance with section 208 of the Corporations 
Act and Listing Rule 10.11. 

 

30 June 2023 
Short Term Employment 

Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits 
Termination 

Benefits 
Equity Settled 

Payments Total 

 Salary & Fees Bonus 
Super- 

annuation Salary Options  
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Directors       
Jeremy King(i) 56,522 - 5,935 - - 62,457 
David Lees  75,000 - 7,875 - 97,230 (vi) 180,105 
Jamie Myers(ii) 23,333 - 2,450 - - 25,783 
Tianjiao Yang(iii)  23,333 - 2,450 - - 25,783 
Mark Major (resigned) 

(iv) 
63,392 

- 
3,780 6,000 166,680 (vi) 239,852 

Martin Helean 
(resigned) (iv) 

12,654 
- 

1,696 3,500 97,230 (vi) 115,080 

Edmund Haynes 
(resigned) (v) 

5,250 
- 

551 - - 5,801 

Total Remuneration 259,484 - 24,737 9,500 361,140 654,861 
 

(i) appointed 8 December 2022. 
(ii) appointed 30 November 2022. 
(iii) appointed 30 November 2022. 
(iv) resigned 30 November 2022. 
(v) resigned 15 August 2022. 
(vi) On 4 November 2022, C29 Metals issued a total of 2,600,000 Options to Directors (Director Incentive Options) based upon the 

approval from shareholders on Annual General Meeting. The shares issued comprised 1,200,000 options to Mark Major, 700,000 
options each to Martin Helean and David Lees (Directors) in accordance with section 208 of the Corporations Act and Listing Rule 
10.11. 

 
The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 
 

 Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
 % % % % % % 
Directors      - 
David Lees 82 46 - 12 18 54 
Jamie Myers 62 100 - - 38 - 
Shannon Green 73 - - - 27 - 
Jeremy King 83 100 - - 17 - 
Tianjiao Yang - 100 - - - - 
Mark Major (resigned) - 31 - 9 - 69 
Martin Helean (resigned) - 16 - - 84 - 
Edmund Haynes (resigned) - 100 - - - - 
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Executive service agreements (ESA) 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in the 
Executive Service Agreements (ESA). Details of these agreements are as follows: 
Name: Shannon Green 

Title: Managing Director 

Agreement commenced: 15 March 2024 

Details: $275,000 per year plus statutory superannuation 

 
Termination by the Company 
The Company may terminate the Executives employment without reason, by giving six (6) months’ 
written notice and making a payment equal to six (6) months’ salary, or immediately if the Executive is 
convicted of any major criminal offence which brings the Company or its related body corporate into 
disrepute.  The Company may otherwise terminate the Executive by giving one (1) month’s written 
notice if the Executive: 
 

(i) is or becomes incapacitated by illness or injury for a period of two consecutive months (or 
any periods aggregating to two months in 12 months); 

(ii) is or becomes unsound of mind; 
(iii) commits any serious or persistent breach of any of the provisions contained in the Executive 

Service Agreement (ESA)that are not remedied within 14 days; 
(iv) is absent in, or demonstrates incompetence with regard to the performance of the Executive’s 

duties under the ESA, or is neglectful of any duties under the ESA or otherwise does not 
perform all duties under this Agreement in a satisfactory manner, (provided the Executive is 
provided with a reasonable opportunity to remedy the specific matters complained of by the 
Board); 

(v) commits or becomes guilty of any Gross Misconduct; or 
(vi) refuses or neglects to comply with any lawful reasonable direction or order by the Company. 

Termination by the Executive 
The Executive may at their discretion, terminate the ESA if: 

(i) The Company commits any serious of persistent breach of the provisions contained in the ESA 
and the breach is not remedied within 28 days; or 

(ii) by giving three (3) months’ written notice to the Company. 

Expenses 
The Company will reimburse the Executive for all reasonable expenses incurred by them in the 
performance of all duties in connection with the business of the Company. 

The EAS otherwise contains provisions considered standard for an agreement of its nature (including 
representations and warranties and confidentiality provisions). 
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Non-executive director service contracts 
On appointment to the Board all non-executive directors enter into a service agreement with the 
Company in the form of a letter of appointment. The term of appointment of all non-executive directors 
is subject to re-nomination and re-election and Annual General Meetings and all non-executive 
directors are expected to serve a minimum term of three years. There is no notice period required by 
non-executive directors and non-executive directors are not entitled to annual or long service leave 
benefits. 

Details of these agreements are as follows: 

Name: David Lees 

Title: Non-Executive Chairman 

Agreement commenced: 1 July 2021 

Details: $72,000 per year plus statutory superannuation 

 

Name: Jamie Myers 

Title: Non-Executive Director 

Agreement commenced: 30 November 2022 

Details: $40,000 per year plus statutory superannuation 

 

The term of each Director is open to the extent that they hold office subject to retirement by rotation, 
as per the Company’s Constitution, at each AGM and are eligible for re-election as a Director at the 
meeting. Appointment shall cease automatically in the event that the Director gives written notice to 
the Board, or the Director is not re-elected as a Director by the shareholders of the Company. There 
are no entitlements to termination or notice periods. 

Share-based compensation 
Issue of shares 
There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation during the year ended 30 June 2024. 

 
Options 
A total of 3,500,000 options were issued to Directors as compensation during the financial year ended 
30 June 2024. A total of 2,000,000 options were issues as approved at the Annual General Meeting held 
17 November 2023 and 1,500,000 options were issued as approved at the extraordinary General Meeting 
held 6 May 2024. 

The valuation of the share-based payment transactions is measured by reference to fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value has been determined using the 
Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted. 
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The following inputs were used to value the options on issue: 
 

     

 
Shannon 

Green David Lees Jamie Myers Jeremy King 

     

Fair value per option 0.02394 0.03621 0.03621 0.03621 

Number of options 1,500,000 500,000 750,000 750,000 

Grant date 6 May 2024 17 Nov 2023 17 Nov 2023 17 Nov 2023 

Expiry date 29 Jan 2026 12 Dec 2025 12 Dec 2025 12 Dec 2025 

Exercise price 0.110 0.115 0.115 0.115 

% vested 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Expected volatility 89.83% 105.25% 105.25% 105.25% 

Implied option life 1.73 yrs 2 yrs 2 yrs 2 yrs 

Expected dividend yield nil nil nil nil 

Risk free rate 4.082% 4.162% 4.162% 4.162% 

Underlying share price at grant date 0.070 0.077 0.077 0.077 

     
 

Additional information 
The earnings of the consolidated entity for the four years* to 30 June 2024 are summarised below: 

 2024 2023 2022 2021 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
(Loss) before income tax (3,421,399) (2,642,035) (1,002,239) (58,808) 
(Loss) after income tax (3,421,399) (2,642,035) (1,002,239) (58,808) 
Share price at financial year end ($) * 0.072 0.085 0.11 -* 
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (5.23) (6.01) (3.42) (0.71) 

* No further historical information is shown above as the company was only incorporated in October 2020 and 
listed in November 2021. 
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Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 
Shareholding 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in C29 Metals Limited held 
directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel including their related parties, is 
as follows:  

 

Held at start 
of the year or 

date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation Purchases Other 

Held at the 
end of the 

year 
 number number number number number 

      

Directors      
David Lees 141,667 - - - 141,667 

Jamie Myers 900,000 - 3,500,000 - 4,400,000 

Shannon Green (i) - - - - - 

Jeremy King (iI) 2,844,515  312,508 3,157,023 - 

Tianjiao Yang (iiI) 1,526,964 - - 1,526,964 - 

 5,413,146 - 3,812,508 (4,683,987) 4,541,667 
(i) appointed 15 March 2024. 
(ii) resigned 15 March 2024.  
(iii) resigned 6 July 2023. 

 
Options 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options in C29 Metals Limited held directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel including their related parties, is as 
follows:  

 

Held at start 
of the year or 

date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Expired / 
Lapsed Other 

Held at the 
end of the 

year  
Vested and 
exercisable 

 number number number Number number Number 

       

Directors       

David Lees 1,450,000 500,000 - - 1,950,000 1,950,000 

Jamie Myers - 750,000 - - 750,000 750,000 

Shannon Green (i) - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1,500,000 

Jeremy King (iI) 1,250,000 750,000 - (2,000,000) - - 

Tianjiao Yang (iiI) - - - - - - 

 2,700,000 3,500,000 - (2,000,000) 4,200,000 4,200,000 
(i) appointed 15 March 2024. 
(ii) resigned 15 March 2024.  
(iii) resigned 6 July 2023. 

 
Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties 
During the financial year, payments for consulting services from Mirador Corporate Pty Ltd (director-
related entity of Jeremy King) of $208,615 were made (2023: $122,025). The current trade payable 
balance as at 30 June 2024 was $0 (2023: $0). All transactions were made on normal commercial terms 
and conditions and at market rates. 
 
 

- End of Remuneration Report - 
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SHARES UNDER OPTION 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of C29 Metals Limited under option outstanding at 30 June 
2024. 
 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 
There were no ordinary shares of C29 Metals Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year 
ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this report. 
 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 
The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their 
capacity as a director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is 
a lack of good faith. 
 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR 
The company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify 
the auditor of the company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
 
During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the 
auditor of the company or any related entity. 
 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a 
party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those 
proceedings. 
 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
There were no other non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor.  
 
There are no officers of the company who are former partners of RSM Australia Partners. 
 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is set out immediately after this directors' report. 
 

AUDITOR 
RSM Australia Partners continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors, 
 
 
 

David Lees | Non-Executive Chairman 
27 September 2024 
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RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by 
the members of the RSM network.  Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and 
consulting firm which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any 
jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 
 

RSM Australia Partners 
 

Level 32 Exchange Tower 
2 The Esplanade Perth WA 6000 
GPO Box R1253 Perth WA 6844 

 
T +61 (0) 8 9261 9100 
F +61 (0) 8 9261 9111 

 
www.rsm.com.au 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of C29 Metals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2024, I 
declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 
 
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

 
 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA 

 
 

 
 
Perth, WA TUTU PHONG 
Dated:  27 September 2024 Partner 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
 Notes $ $ 
    

Revenue    

Other income 4 13,229 30,895 

    

Expenses    

Compliance and regulatory costs  (60,695) (62,004) 

Consulting and professional fees 5 (364,523) (276,585) 

Employee benefits 5 (340,688) (272,316) 

Advertising and investor relations  (161,160) (104,886) 

Exploration expense  (28,966) (49,864) 

Auditors’ remuneration 18 (39,235) (34,500) 

Share based payments expense  (132,556) (373,964) 

Impairment of exploration expenditure 9 (2,076,014) (1,391,399) 

Legal fees  (85,675) (26,107) 

Other expenses 5 (144,824) (81,305) 

Finance costs  (292) - 

Loss before income tax expense   (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 

Income tax expense 6  - 

Loss after income tax expense  (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss    

Foreign exchange translation  (1,778) - 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 
tax  (1,778) - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable 
to the owners of C29 Metals Limited  (3,423,177) (2,642,035) 

    
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the 
owners ofC29 Metals Limited    

Basic (loss) per share (cents per share) 29 (5.23) (6.01) 

Diluted (loss) per share (cents per share) 29 (5.23) (6.01) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

 Notes $ $ 

    

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,227,636 1,305,671 

Restricted cash  60,488 - 

Other receivables 8 34,316 50,856 

Prepayment  38,456 16,934 

Other current asset  5,363 - 

Total current assets  2,366,259 1,373,461 

    

Non-current assets    

Exploration and evaluation assets 9 5,249,689 3,491,744 

Plant and equipment 10 51,089 4,012 

Intangible assets  6,250 - 

Total non-current assets  5,307,028 3,495,756 

Total assets  7,673,287 4,869,217 

    

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 11 211,805 404,511 

Provisions 12 6,911 - 

Borrowings 13 15,471 - 

Total current liabilities  234,187 404,511 

Total liabilities  234,187 404,511 

Net assets   7,439,100 4,464,706 

    

Equity    

Issued capital 15 13,536,639 7,360,299 

Reserves 16 1,026,942 807,489 

Accumulated losses  (7,124,481) (3,703,082) 

Total equity   7,439,100 4,464,706 
 
 
 
 

The above consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
 Notes $ $ 
    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Other receipts (inc. GST)  48,940 20,071 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inc. GST)  (1,501,750) (600,978) 

  (1,452,810) (580,907) 

Interest received  13,179 10,824 

Interest and other finance costs paid  (292) - 

Net cash flows used in operating activities 28 (1,439,923) (570,083) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Net cash acquired  3,088 - 

Payments for exploration expenditure  (838,387) (2,287,521) 

Payments for plant and equipment  (1,089) - 

Purchase of intangible asset  (6,250) - 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (842,638) (2,287,521) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from share issue  3,525,000 1,100,000 

Share issue costs  (259,986) (76,500) 

Reclassification of funds in trust  (60,488) - 

Net cash flows from financing activities  3,204,526 1,023,500 

    
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  921,965 (1,834,104) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  1,305,671 3,139,775 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 7 2,227,636 1,305,671 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

Issued Capital Reserves 
Accumulated 

losses Total equity 
 $ $ $ $ 

     

Balance at 1 July 2022 5,991,929 433,525 (1,061,047) 5,364,407 

Comprehensive loss for the year - - (2,642,035) (2,642,035) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (2,642,035) (2,642,035) 

     
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners     

Shares issued 1,444,870 - - 1,444,870 

Cost of shares issued (76,500) - - (76,500) 

Share-based payment - 373,964 - 373,964 

Balance at 30 June 2023 7,360,299 807,489 (3,703,082) 4,464,706 

     

Balance at 1 July 2023 7,360,299 807,489 (3,703,082) 4,464,706 

(Loss) for the year - - (3,421,399) (3,421,399) 

Comprehensive loss for the year - (1,778) - (1,778) 
Total comprehensive profit for the 
year - (1,778) (3,421,399) (3,423,177) 

     
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners     

Shares issued 6,525,000 - - 6,525,000 

Cost of shares issued (348,660) - - (348,660) 

Employee share-based payments - 132,556 - 132,556 

Broker options - 88,675 - 88,675 

Balance at 30 June 2024 13,536,639 1,026,942 (7,124,481) 7,439,100 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
C29 Metals Limited (“C29 Metals” or the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia. The address of 
the Company’s registered office is Suite 4, 4 Douro Place West Perth, Western Australia. 
 
The Company is a for-profit entity and is primarily involved in identifying and investing in mineral 
exploration assets and conducting exploration activities on those assets. 
 

2. STATEMENT OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

2.1. Adoption of new and amended accounting standards 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the 
current reporting period, and determined that there was no material impact on its financial statements 
in the current reporting year. 
 
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted. 
 
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on 
the financial performance or position of the consolidated entity. 
 
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity: 
 

2.2. Basis of preparation 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial statements comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). C29 Metals Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements. 
 
The financial statements are authorised for issue on 27 September 2024 by the directors of the Company. 
 

2.3. Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where 
applicable, the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, investment properties, certain classes of 
property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 
 

2.4. Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
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2.5. Parent entity information 
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the 
consolidated entity only. Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 25. 
 

2.6. Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of C29 
Metals Limited ('company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2024 and the results of all subsidiaries for the 
year then ended. C29 Metals Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial 
statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity 
controls an entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the 
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the 
consolidated entity are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in 
ownership interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the 
difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling 
interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 
 
Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of 
changes in equity of the consolidated entity. Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed to 
the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a deficit balance. 
 
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including 
goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation 
differences recognised in equity. The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration 
received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
 

2.7. Operating segments 
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented 
is on the same basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). 
The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their 
performance. 
 

2.8. Revenue recognition 
The consolidated entity recognises revenue as follows: 
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
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Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
year using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 

2.9. Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based 
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised 
for prior periods, where applicable. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to 
be applied when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 
 

 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or 

 
 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or 

joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it 
is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date. Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future 
taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits 
available to recover the asset. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they 
relate to the same taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which 
intend to settle simultaneously. 
 

2.10. Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-
current classification. 
 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in the consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of 
trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or 
cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
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A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity's normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after 
the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 

2.11. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

2.12. Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and 
equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
 
Plant and equipment  5 years 
Computer equipment  3-5 years 
Vehicles   5 years 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date.  
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the 
disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
 

2.13. Exploration and evaluation 
Expenditure on acquisition, exploration and evaluation relating to an area of interest is carried forward 
where rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and;  

 It is expected that expenditure will be recouped through successful development and 
exploitation of the area of interest or alternatively by its sale; and/or  

 Exploration and evaluation activities are continuing in an area of interest but at balance date 
have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or 
otherwise of economically recoverable reserves.  

Where the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource have been 
demonstrated then any capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified as capitalised 
“mine properties in development”. Prior to reclassification, capitalised exploration and evaluation 
expenditure is assessed for impairment.  
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indicators of impairment and 
are tested for impairment where such indicators exist. If testing performed indicates that the carrying 
value might not be recoverable the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Any such impairment 
is recognised in profit or loss for the year. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off to profit or loss in the period in which 
the decision to abandon the area in made.  
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An impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in previous years. 
 

2.14. Asset acquisitions 
Where an acquisition does not meet the definition of a business combination the transaction is 
accounted for as an asset acquisition. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of an asset 
comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued 
by the consolidated entity. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs with regards 
to the acquisition are capitalised. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition 
are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. 
 

2.15. Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to 
the end of the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at 
amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days 
of recognition. 
 

2.16. Employee benefits 
Accumulation Superannuation Funds 
Obligations for contributions to accumulation superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in 
profit or loss when they are due.  
 
Short-Term Benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be 
wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Long-Term Benefits 
Liabilities for long service leave not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting date 
 

2.17. Share based payments 
The consolidated entity provides benefits to individuals acting as and providing services similar to 
employees (including Directors) of the consolidated entity in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby individuals render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“Equity 
Settled Transactions”). 
 
There is currently an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) in place, which provides benefits to Directors 
and individuals providing services similar to those provided by an employee. 
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The cost of these equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value 
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Black Scholes formula, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. In valuing equity 
settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to 
the price of the shares of C29 Metals Limited (“Market Conditions”). 
 
The cost of the equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the 
relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (“Vesting date”). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until Vesting Date reflects (i) the extent 
to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Directors 
of the consolidated entity, will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed based on the best available 
information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of the market performance 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at 
grant date. The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income charge or credit for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and end of the period. No 
expense is recognised for awards that do not vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition. 
 
Where the terms of an equity settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if 
the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of 
the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of the modification. 
 
Where an equity settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of the cancellation, 
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award 
is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, 
as described in the previous paragraph. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-employees is measured by reference to the fair value of 
goods and services received unless this cannot be measured reliably, in which case the cost is measured 
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. 
 

2.18. Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

2.19. Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the owners of C29 
Metals Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements 
in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
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Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

2.20. Goods and services tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the tax authority. 

2.21. New accounting standards and interpretations not yet mandatory or 
early adopted 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are 
not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting 
period ended 30 June 2024. The consolidated entity has not yet assessed the impact of these new or 
amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 

2.22. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and 
on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the 
related actual results. Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within 
the next financial year are discussed below. 

Note 9 – Exploration and evaluation 
The consolidated entity’s policy for exploration and evaluation is discussed in Note 2.13. The application 
of this policy requires management to make certain assumptions as to future events and circumstances. 
Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after 
having capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure, management concludes that the capitalised 
expenditure is unlikely to be recovered by future 
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Note 14 – Share based payments 
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference 
to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is 
determined by an external valuer using a Black Scholes model, using the assumptions detailed in the 
note 14. 
 
For asset acquisitions settled via share based payment arrangements, the consolidated entity measures 
the cost of the asset at the fair value of the asset acquired, or if this cannot be determined, at the fair 
value of the equity instruments.  
 
Note 6 - Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity 
considers it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses. As at 30 June 2024 deferred tax assets have not been recognised because their 
realisation is not deemed probable. 
 

3. OPERATING SEGMENTS 
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The consolidated entity is organised into two operating segments, being the exploration of minerals in 
Australia and exploration of minerals in Kazakhstan.  This operating segment is based on the internal 
reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who are identified as the Chief Operating 
Decision Makers ('CODM')) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.  
 

 Kazakhstan Australia Total 

30 June 2024 $ $ $ 

    

Assets 3,194,604 4,478,683 7,673,287 

Liabilities - 234,187 234,187 

    

Exploration and Evaluation asset 3,081,142 2,168,547 5,249,689 
 

4. OTHER INCOME 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

  $ $ 

    

Interest income  13,179 10,824 

Secondment income  - 20,071 

Other income  50 - 

  13,229 30,895 
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5. EXPENSES 
Loss before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific expenses: 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

  $ $ 

    

Other expenses    

Insurance   38,079 33,877 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  562 1,123 

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  3,450 - 

Short-term lease payment  17,783 10,919 

Net foreign exchange loss  16,817 23,788 

Travel  56,591 3,568 

Other  11,542 8,030 

  144,824 81,305 

    

Consulting and corporate expenses    

Corporate advisory fees  94,500 113,913 

Consulting fees  58,900 41,497 

Corporate financial and company secretarial services   211,123 121,175 

  364,523 276,585 

    

Employee benefits expense    

Directors’ fees  304,119 190,375 

Wages and salaries expenses  7,176 47,845 

Superannuation  29,393 34,096 

  340,688 272,316 
 
 

6. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

  $ $ 

    
Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit and 
tax at the statutory rate    

(Loss) before income tax expense  (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 
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  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

  $ $ 

    

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%)  (855,350) (660,509) 

    
Tax effect amounts which are not 
deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:    

Non-deductible expenditure  37,234 103,865 

Change in temporary differences not recognised  818,116 556,644 

  - - 

    

Deferred tax assets not brought to account    

Accruals and other timing differences  9,727 (17,506) 

Tax losses  2,775,058 1,004,582 

Capital raising costs  133,658 95,879 

Exploration assets and property, plant and equipment  (1,313,529) (442,014) 

Prepayments  (9,614) - 

Other  1,397 - 

Total deferred tax assets not brought to account  1,596,697 640,941 
 
Potential deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses and other temporary differences have not been 
brought to account at 30 June 2024 and 2023 because the directors do not believe it is appropriate to 
regard realisation of the deferred tax assets as probable. These benefits will only be obtained if the 
consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable 
the benefit from the deductions for the expenditure to be realised; and no changes in tax legislation 
adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit from the deductions for the expenditure. 
 
The taxation benefits of tax losses and temporary differences not brought to account will only be 
obtained if:  

i. the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient 
to enable the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised;  

ii. the consolidated entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; 
and  

iii. no change in tax legislation adversely affects the consolidated entity in realising the benefits 
from deducting the losses.   
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Current    

Cash at bank  2,227,636 1,305,671 

  2,227,636 1,305,671 
 

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Current    

GST receivable  34,091 48,939 

Other receivables  225 1,917 

  34,316 50,856 
 

9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

 Note $ $ 

    

Carrying amount of exploration and evaluation expenditure 5,249,689 3,491,744 

    

Balance at 1 July  3,491,744 2,250,752 

Acquired during the year  - 707,728 

Acquired through share consideration 21 2,993,235 344,870 

Exploration expenditure incurred  845,153 1,579,793 

Unrealised foreign exchange movement  (4,429) - 

Impairment of exploration expenditure  (2,076,014) (1,391,399) 

Balance at 30 June  5,249,689 3,491,744 
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10. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  Equipment Total 

  $ $ 

    

At 1 July 2022  5,135 5,135 

Depreciation  (1,123) (1,123) 

At 30 June 2023  4,012 4,012 

    

Cost  5,617 5,617 

Accumulated Depreciation  (1,605) (1,605) 

At 30 June 2023  4,012 4,012 

    

At 1 July 2023  4,012 4,012 

Additions  51,089 51,089 

Depreciation  (562) (562) 

Loss on disposal of assets  (3,450) (3,450) 

At 30 June 2024  51,089 51,089 

    

Cost  51,089 51,089 

Accumulated Depreciation  - - 

At 30 June 2024  51,089 51,089 
 

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Trade payables  165,245 224,908 

Accrued expenses  21,353 165,829 

Other payables   25,207 13,774 

Total trade and other payables  211,805 404,511 
 

12. PROVISIONS 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Employee entitlements  6,911 - 

  6,911 - 
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13. BORROWINGS 
 

 

Insurance 
Premium 
Funding Total 

    

Opening balance 1 July   - - 

New Funding  24,754 24,754 

Repayments  (9,283) (9,283) 

Closing balance  15,471 15,471 

    

Current  15,471 15,471 

Non- current  - - 

Total Borrowings  15,471 15,471 

    
 

14. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 

Note 
30 Jun 2024 

$ 
30 Jun 2023 

$ 

    

Recognised share-based payments transactions     

Unlisted options  221,231 373,964 

Shares issued for acquisition tenements 10 3,000,000 344,870 

  3,221,231 718,834 

    

Reconciliation    

Share based payments expense  132,556 373,964 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 1 10 3,000,000 344,870 

Share Issue costs  88,675 - 

  3,221,231 718,834 

    
1. On 14 May 2024, the Company issued 42,857,142 consideration shares for a value of $3,000,000 as consideration 

in respect of the acquisition tenements – Ulytau uranium project. (note 10) 

Unlisted options that were issued are as follows: 

On 31 August 2022, C29 Metals issued 1,558,963 shares at $0.125 per share to completion of the acquisition 
of the Mayfield Copper Project. 

On 25 October 2022, C29 Metals issued 1,000,000 shares (being a value of $150,000 at a deemed issue 
price of $0.15 per share) to Molo Capital or nominees, for facilitation fees on the Argentina lithium project. 
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On 8 November 2022, C29 Metals issued a total of 2,600,000 Options to Directors (Director Incentive 
Options) based upon the approval from shareholders on Annual General Meeting. The shares issued 
comprised 1,200,000 options to Mark Major, 700,000 options each to Martin Helean and David Lees 
(Directors) in accordance with section 208 of the Corporations Act and Listing Rule 10.1. 

At the same date, the company issued 150,000 employee incentive options to the company secretary, 
Mauro Piccini. All the options issued are unquoted with a strike price of $0.18, and an expiry date before 
or on 8 November 2025. 

As approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting held 17 November 2023, the Directors were 
issued a total of 2,000,000 Options to provide a performance linked incentive component in the 
remuneration package.  The issued comprised 750,000 Options to Jeremy King, 750,000 Options to Jamie 
Myers and 500,000 Options to David Lees  

As approved by shareholders at the Extraordinary General meeting held 6 May 2024, Director, Mr Shannon 
Green, was issued 1,500,000 Options to provide a performance linked incentive component to his 
remuneration package, under his executive services agreement.   

As approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting held 17 November 2023, the Company issued  
2,500,000 Options to ARQ Capital Pty Ltd as consideration for the provision of corporate advisory and 
capital raising services provided under the Advisor Mandate.  
 
As approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting held 17 November 2023, the Mr Craig Hall 
was issued 500,000 Options for the provision of technical and geological consulting services to the 
Company. 
 
The unlisted options issued in the current year have been valued using the Black Scholes model. The 
model and assumptions are shown in the table below: 

 Directors a) Brokerb) Consultantc) Directora) 

     

Fair value per option 0.03621 0.03621 0.04846 0.02394 

Number of options 2,000,000 2,500,000 500,000 1,500,000 

Grant date 17 Nov 2023 21 Sep 2023 12 Dec 2023 6 May 2024 

Expiry date 12 Dec 2025 12 Dec 2025 12 Dec 2025 29 Jan 2026 

Exercise price $0.115 $0.115 $0.115 0.110 

% vested 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Expected volatility 105.25% 105.25% 103.46% 89.83% 

Implied option life 2 yrs 2.23 yrs 2 yrs 1.73 yrs 

Expected dividend yield nil nil Nil nil 

Risk free rate 4.162% 4.069% 4.024% 4.082% 

Underlying share price at grant date 0.077 0.076 $0.095 $0.070 
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a) Share based payments 
As approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting held 17 November 2023, the Directors were 
issued a total of 2,000,000 Options to provide a performance linked incentive component in the 
remuneration package.  The issued comprised 750,000 Options to Jeremy King, 750,000 Options to Jamie 
Myers and 500,000 Options to David Lees.  
 
As approved by shareholders at the Extraordinary General meeting held 6 May 2024, Director, Mr Shannon 
Green, was issued 1,500,000 Options to provide a performance linked incentive component to his 
remuneration package, under his executive services agreement.   
 
b) Broker - Advisor Mandate 
As approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting held 17 November 2023, the Company issued  
2,500,000 Options to ARQ Capital Pty Ltd as consideration for the provision of corporate advisory and 
capital raising services provided under the Advisor Mandate.  
 
c) Consultant 
As approved by shareholders at the Annual General meeting held 17 November 2023, the Mr Craig Hall 
was issued 500,000 Options for the provision of technical and geological consulting services to the 
Company. 

The weighted average exercise price of the options is $0.18 (2023: $0.18). The weighted average remaining 
contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 1.40 years. (2023:2.91 years) 

Grant 
Date 

Expiry 
date 

Exercise 
price $ 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised 

Expired / 
forfeited / 

other 

Balance at 
the end of 

the year 

29 Jan 21 29 Jan 26 0.200 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 

01 Jul 21 01 Jul 24 0.250 2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000 

26 Oct 21 26 Oct 26 0.250 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 

09 Sep 22 11 Nov 25 0.180 2,750,000 - - - 2,750,000 

21 Sep 23 12 Dec 25 0.115 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 

12 Dec 23 12 Dec 25 0.115 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 

06 May 24 29 Jan 26 0.110 - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 

   12,000,000 6,500,000 - - 18,500,000 
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Number of options exercisable at the end of the year 

Grant 
Date 

Expiry 
date 

Exercise 
Price 

30 Jun 2024 
$ 

30 Jun 2023 
$ 

29 Jan 21 29 Jan 26 0.200 5,000,000 5,000,000 

01 Jul 21 01 Jul 24 0.250 2,250,000 2,250,000 

26 Oct 21 26 Oct 26 0.250 2,000,000 2,000,000 

09 Sep 22 11 Nov 25 0.180 2,750,000 2,750,000 

21 Sep 23 12 Dec 25 0.115 2,500,000 - 

12 Dec 23 12 Dec 25 0.115 2,500,000 - 

06 May 24 29 Jan 26 0.110 1,500,000 - 

   18,500,000 12,000,000 

 

15. ISSUED CAPITAL 
 

 30 Jun  
2024 

30 Jun  
2024 

30 Jun 
2023 

30 Jun 
2023 

 No. shares $ No shares $ 

     

Ordinary shares fully paid 139,681,194 13,536,639 46,966,909 7,360,299 

     

Movement in ordinary shares     

Opening  46,966,909 7,360,299 39,291,667 5,991,929 
Issued as part of Mayfield acquisition 
agreement - - 

1,558,963 194,870 

Issued as facilitation fee for Argentina 
lithium project - - 

1,000,000 150,000 

Placement for funding of Argentina 
lithium project - - 

5,116,279 1,100,000 

Placement September 2023 7,000,000 525,000 - - 

Placement Tranche 1  13,400,000 938,000 - - 

Placement Tranche 2 29,457,143 2,062,000 - - 

Ulytau Consideration Shares  42,857,142 3,000,000 - - 

Share issue costs - (348,660) - (76,500) 

Ordinary shares fully paid 139,681,194 13,536,639 46,966,909 7,360,299 
 
Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the 
company in proportion to the number of, and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary 
shares have no par value and the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 
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Capital risk management 
The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may issue new shares in order 
to meets its financing requirements. 
 
The consolidated entity is subject to certain financing arrangements and meeting these are given priority 
in all capital risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing 
arrangements during the financial year. 
 
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2023 Annual Report. 
 
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net 
debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
 

16. RESERVES 
  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 

    

Options reserve  1,028,720 807,489 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (1,778) - 

  1,026,942 807,489 
 
Options 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
 Note $ $ 

    

Options on issue at 1 July  807,489 433,525 

    

Options issued during the period    

Share based payments   132,556 373,964 

Broker options   88,675 - 

  1,028,720 807,489 
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17. DIVIDENDS 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
 

18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial risk management objectives 
The consolidated entity's activities can expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
foreign currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity's 
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the consolidated entity. The 
consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These 
methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, 
ageing analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market 
risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors ('the Board'), which identifies, evaluates and 
hedges financial risks within the consolidated entity's operating units where considered appropriate. 
 
Market risk 
Foreign currency risk 
The consolidated entity is not subject to significant levels of foreign exchange risk in relation to its financial 
instruments. 
 
Price risk 
The consolidated entity is not subject to significant levels of price risk in relation to its financial 
instruments. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The consolidated entity is not subject to significant levels of interest rate in relation to its financial 
instruments. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has a strict code of credit, including 
obtaining agency credit information, confirming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The 
consolidated entity obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is $2,261,952, (2023: $1,373,461). Of this, 
2,227,636 (2023: $1,305,671) is held in bank deposits and are held at financial institutions with a minimum 
AA credit rating. The consolidated entity does not hold any collateral. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets 
(mainly cash and cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 
 
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available 
borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
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Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
instrument liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables 
include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 
therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
 
The carrying values of the consolidated entities financial instruments are as follows: 
 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 

    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  2,227,636 1,305,671 

Other receivables  34,316 67,790 

  2,261,952 1,373,461 

    

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables  211,805 404,511 

  211,805 404,511 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
 

19. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
Directors 

The following persons were directors of C29 Metals Limited during the financial year: 
 

Director Position Appointed Resigned 
David Lees Non-Executive Chairman 1 July 2021  
Jamie Myers Non-Executive Director 30 November 2022  
Shannon Green Managing Director 15 March 2024  
Jeremy King Executive Corporate Director 8 December 2022 15 March 2024 
Tianjiao Yang Non-Executive Director 30 November 2022 6 July 2023 
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Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of 
the consolidated entity is set out below: 
 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Short-term employee benefits  274,119 268,984 

Post employment employee benefits  29,393 24,737 

Termination benefits  50,000 - 

Share based payments  108,319 361,140 

  461,831 654,861 
 

20. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor to 
the company: 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Audit services - RSM Australia Partners    

Audit or review of the financial statements  39,235 34,500 

  39,235 34,500 
 

21. ASSET ACQUISITION – ULYTAU URANIUM PROJECT 
On 14 May 2024, the Company issued 42,857,142 consideration shares for a value of $3,000,000 as 
consideration in respect of the acquisition agreement announced on 20 March 2024.  

The fair value of the consideration settled in equity was measured based on the share price of the 
company at acquisition date.  The presumption that the fair value of the asset acquired can be reliably 
measured has been rebutted given the speculative nature of the asset being in early exploration phase.  

The fair value of the purchase consideration has been allocated to the acquired asset as at the 
acquisition date as per the table below: 

   14 May 2024 
 Note  $ 
    

Consideration:    

Consideration shares  14  3,000,000 

   3,000,000 
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   14 May 2024 
 Note  $ 

    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   3,088 

Trade and other receivables   240 

Prepayments   3,162 

Other current assets   275 

Total current assets   6,765 

Total assets acquired   6,765 

    

Excess consideration over net assets acquired   2,993,235 

Total exploration and evaluation acquired 9  2,993,235 
 

22. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
There are no contingent assets at the reporting date. 
 
Other contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2024 include: 
 
Sampson Tank Project 
A 2% net smelter return royalty in respect of any production within the area of the Tenement comprising 
the Sampson Tank Project (Sampson Tank Royalty). The Company will enter into a separate royalty deed 
with Gilmore Metals to document the terms of the Sampson Tank Royalty and which shall include a term 
which gives the Company the right (but not obligation) to purchase 50% of the Sampson Tank Royalty 
from Gilmore Metals for either (at the Company’s election): 
1) $1,000,000 in cash; or  
2) that number of Shares equal in value to $1,000,000 based on a deemed issue price per Share 
equal to the 30-day VWAP of Shares as at the date of the Company’s election. 
 
Reedy Creek Project 
A 2 % net smelter return royalty in respect of any production within the area of the Tenement comprising 
the Reedy Creek Project (Reedy Creek Royalty).The Company will enter into a separate royalty deed with 
shareholders of Oberon Gold to document the terms of the Reedy Creek Royalty and which shall include 
a term which gives the Company the right (but not obligation) to purchase 50% of the Reedy Creek 
Royalty from the shareholders of Oberon Gold  for either (at the Company’s election): 
1) $1,000,000 in cash; or  
2) that number of Shares equal in value to $1,000,000 based on a deemed issue price per Share 
equal to the 30-day VWAP of Shares as at the date of the Company’s election. 
 
Mayfield Project 
A 2 % net smelter return royalty in respect of any production within the area of the Tenement comprising 
the Mayfield Project payable to Alcrest Royalties Australia Pty Ltd. 
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Ulytau Uranium Project 
Subject to C29 Metals Limited announcing a JORC Compliant Inferred Resource of 3,000,000 Tonnes @ 
0.2% U308 (Milestone), the Company to issue a total AUD$1,000,000 in shares in the Company (Deferred 
Consideration Shares), calculated at a deemed issue price equal to the higher of the 20-day VWAP prior 
to the announcement of the Milestone and a floor price of AUD$0.07. 
 

23. COMMITMENTS 
 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Exploration expenditure     

Within 1 year  100,262 752,305 

One year or later but no later than 5 years  312,211 1,957,686 

  412,473 2,709,991 
 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to the exploration lease the Company was required to meet 
minimum expenditure requirements of the State Mines Departments. These obligations are not recorded 
in the financial statements. 
 

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Parent entity 
C29 Metals Limited is the parent entity. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 26. 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 19 and the remuneration report 
included in the directors' report. 
 
Transactions with related parties 
The Company incurred consulting fees and office use license fees payable to Mirador Corporate Pty Ltd 
(“Mirador”). Mirador is a company of which Jeremy King is a Director. 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Mirador Corporate Pty Ltd*  208,615 122,025 

Krakatoa Resources Limited  - 19,578 
 Jeremy King resigned on 15 March 2024. 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related 
parties: 
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  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Current payables:    

Director’s fees payable  14,857 - 

Accrued Superannuation  10,643 - 

  25,500 - 
 
No interest is payable by the consolidated entity in respect of these balances. 
 
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
 
There were no other transactions with KMP during the year ended 30 June 2024. 

25. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income 

 
  

(Loss) after income tax  (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 

Total comprehensive (loss)  (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 

    

    

Statement of financial position    

Current assets  2,252,796 1,373,461 

Non-current assets  5,429,213 3,495,756 

Total assets  7,682,009 4,869,217 

    

Current liabilities  242,909 404,511 

Total liabilities  242,909 404,511 

    

Equity    

Issued capital  13,536,639 7,360,299 

Reserves  1,026,942 807,489 

Accumulated losses  (7,124,481) (3,703,082) 

  7,439,100 4,464,706 
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Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 
The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 and 30 
June 2023. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, other than those 
disclosed in note 22. 
 
Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2024 and 
30 June 2023. 
 
Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as 
disclosed in note 1, except for, Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, 
in the parent entity. 
 

26. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following 
subsidiary in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
 

 Principal place of 
business / 

 
30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

Name 
Country of 

incorporation 
 

Ownership % Ownership % 
     

Phoenix Minerals Pty Ltd Australia  100 100 

Oberon Gold Pty Ltd Australia  100 100 

CA Metals Pty Ltd* Australia  100 - 

Ulytau Resources Ltd* Kazakhstan  100 - 

     
 
*CA Metals and Ulytau Resource acquired on 14 May 2024. 
 

27. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
On 24 July 2024, the Company announced the lodgement of two (2) new licence applications with the 
Kazakhstan ministry of Natural Resources.  The Southern application (application number 1905-EA, 
lodged 17/07/2024) is contiguous with the Ulytau licence area, and sits immediately to the South and East 
of the Ulytau Uranium project tenement boundaries. The Southern application area is ~213 km2.  
 
The Northern application (application number application number 1913-EA, lodged 17/07/24) sits to the 
north of the Ulytau Uranium project tenement and immediately North of the historic Bota Burum Uranium 
mine. The Northern licence application area is ~39 km2.  

On 1 August 2024, the Company announced the granting of the Southern application (application 
number 1905-EA, lodged 17/07/2024). 
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On 4 September, the Company announced the granting of the Northern application (application number 
1913-EA, lodged 17/07/2024). 

There have been no other transactions or events of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of 
the Directors of the Company, to significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years. 
 

28. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH USED IN 
OPERATIONS 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 

    

(Loss) after income tax expense for the year  (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 

    

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and amortisation  562 1,123 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  3,450 - 

Share based payments expense  132,556 373,964 

Impairment expense  2,076,014 1,391,399 

Unrealised foreign exchange  (437) - 

Non-cash borrowings  15,471 - 

    

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables  (10,345) (12,228) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (242,706) 317,694 

Increase in provisions  6,911 - 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,439,923) (570,083) 
 
Non-cash investing and financing activities 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 
  $ $ 

    

Shares issued for acquisition tenements  3,000,000 344,870 
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29. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

  30 Jun 2024 30 Jun 2023 

  Number Number 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
calculating basic earnings per share    

Basic  65,360,586 43,942,244 

Diluted  65,360,586 43,942,244 
    
    

Earnings per share for (loss)    
(Loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of 
C29 Metals Limited  (3,421,399) (2,642,035) 

    

  cents cents 

Basic loss per share  (5.23) (6.01) 

Diluted loss per share  (5.23) (6.01) 
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Name Entity Type 
Country of 

incorporation Tax Residency 
Ownership  

% 
     

Phoenix Minerals Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia Australia 100 

Oberon Gold Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia Australia 100 

CA Metals Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia Australia 100 

Ulytau Resources Ltd Body Corporate Kazakhstan Kazakhstan 100 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of C29 Metals Limited, I state that: 

(1) In the opinion of the Directors: 
 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the 

Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; 

 the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as 
described in note 1 to the financial statements; 

 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
entity's financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its performance for the financial year 
ended on that date; 

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable; and 

 the information disclosed in the attached consolidated entity disclosure statement is true 
and correct. 

 
(2) The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations 

Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

David Lees | Non-Executive Chairman  
27 September 2024
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RSM Australia Partners 
 

Level 32 Exchange Tower  
2 The Esplanade Perth WA 6000 
GPO Box R1253 Perth WA 6844 

 
T +61 (0) 8 9261 9100 
F +61 (0) 8 9261 9111 

 
www.rsm.com.au 

 

 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network.  
Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a 
separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF C29 METALS LIMITED 

 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of C29 Metals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement, and the directors' declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:  
 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial performance 

for the year then ended; and  
 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's 
report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed this matter 
Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
Refer to Note 9 in the financial statements 
The Group has capitalised exploration and 
evaluation assets with a carrying value of 
$5,249,689 as at 30 June 2024.  
 
We considered this to be a key audit matter due 
to the significant management judgment 
involved in assessing the carrying value of the 
asset including: 

 
• Determination of whether additions to 

exploration and evaluation during the year 
are in compliance with Australian 
Accounting Standards;  

• Determination of whether the expenditure 
can be associated with finding specific 
mineral resources, and the basis on which 
that expenditure is allocated to an area of 
interest; 

• Determination of whether exploration 
activities have progressed to the stage at 
which the existence of an economically 
recoverable mineral reserve may be 
assessed; and 

• Assessing whether any indicators of 
impairment are present, and if so, judgments 
applied to determine and quantify any 
impairment loss. 

Our audit procedures included: 
 
• Assessing the Group’s accounting policy for 

compliance with Australian Accounting Standards; 
• Assessing whether the Group’s right to tenure of 

each area of interest is current; 
• Gained an understanding and evaluated supporting 

documentation relating to the transaction for the 
asset acquisition of the Ulytau Uranium Project  and 
assessed that the amount capitalised to exploration 
and evaluation assets was in accordance with   
Australian Accounting Standards; 

• Testing, on a sample basis, additions of capitalised 
exploration and evaluation assets to supporting 
documentation and ensuring the amounts 
capitalised during the year are in compliance with the 
Group accounting policy and relate to the area of 
interest; 

• Assessing and evaluating management’s 
assessment of whether indicators of impairment 
existed at the reporting date; 

• Assessing the amount of capitalised exploration and 
evaluation assets written off during the year; 

• Assessing management’s determination that 
exploration and evaluation activities have not yet 
reached a stage where the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves may be 
reasonably determined;  

• Enquiring with management and reviewing budgets 
and other supporting documentation as evidence 
that active and significant operations in, or relation 
to, the area of interest will be continued in the future; 
and 

• Assessing the disclosures in financial report. 
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Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Group's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024 but does not include the financial report and the 
auditor's report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 
 
a. the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair view in 

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and 
 
b. the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, and 
 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 
 
i. the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair view 

and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 
 
ii. the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar2_2020.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor's report.  
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Report on the Remuneration Report 
 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in within of the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 
2024.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of C29 Metals Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2024, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 
 
 
 
 
        RSM AUSTRALIA  
 

 
 
 

 
Perth, WA                   TUTU PHONG 
Dated: 27 September 2024     Partner  
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Additional information required by ASX Listing Rules and not shown elsewhere in the report is set out below.  The 
information is current as of 25 September 2024. 
 

1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
Pursuant to the ASX Listing Rules, the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement will be released in conjunction 
with this report. The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement is available on the Company’s website at: 
https://c29metals.com.au/investors/ 
 

2. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
The Company has nil substantial shareholders and their associates. No substantial shareholder notices have been 
provided to the Company. 
 

3. VOTING RIGHTS 
The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows: 
 
Ordinary Shares  
Each Ordinary Share is entitled to one vote at all general meetings of the Company. Each shareholder entitled to 
vote may vote in person or by proxy, attorney or representative or, if a determination has been made by the Board 
in accordance with clause 13.35 of the Company’s constitution, by Direct Vote.  
 
On a poll, every person present who is a Shareholder or a proxy, attorney or representative of a Shareholder (or 
where a Direct Vote has been lodged) shall, in respect of each fully paid Ordinary Share held, or in respect of which 
they are appointed a proxy, attorney or representative, have one vote for the Share. 
 
Options 
There are no voting rights attached to any class of options on issue. 
 

4. NON-MARKETABLE PARCELS  
As at 25 September 2024, based on the Company’s closing share price of $0.073, an unmarketable parcel 
comprised 6,849 fully paid ordinary shares. There were 107 holders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares, 
for a total of 368,232 fully paid ordinary shares. 
 

5. EQUITY SECURITIES 
Analysis of equity securities on issue and the number of holders by size of holding as at 25 September 2024: 
 
Ordinary Shares 

Range 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

securities 
 % 

1                 -       1,000 21 2,355  0.00 
1,001          -       5,000 58 196,097  0.14 
5,001          -       10,000 105 864,921  0.62 
10,001        -       100,000 227 10,454,399  7.48 
100,001               and over 183 128,163,422  91.75 
Total 594 139,681,194  100.00 
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Unlisted options exercisable at $0.20 on or before 29 January 2026 

Range 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

securities 
 % 

1                 -       1,000 - -  - 
1,001          -       5,000 - -  - 
5,001          -       10,000 - -  - 
10,001        -       100,000 - -  - 
100,001               and over 4 5,000,000  100.00 
Total 4 5,000,000  100.00 

 
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.25 on or before 26 October 2026 

Range 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

securities 
 % 

1                 -       1,000 - -  - 
1,001          -       5,000 - -  - 
5,001          -       10,000 - -  - 
10,001        -       100,000 - -  - 
100,001               and over 5 2,000,000  100.00 
Total 5 2,000,000  100.00 

 
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.18 on or before 8 November 2025 

Range 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

securities 
 % 

1                 -       1,000 - -  - 
1,001          -       5,000 - -  - 
5,001          -       10,000 - -  - 
10,001        -       100,000 - -  - 
100,001               and over 4 2,750,000-  100.00 
Total 4 2,750,000-  100.00 

 
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.115 on or before 12 December 2025 

Range 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

securities 
 % 

1                 -       1,000 - -  - 
1,001          -       5,000 - -  - 
5,001          -       10,000 - -  - 
10,001        -       100,000 3 150,000-  3.00 
100,001               and over 10 4,850,000  97.00 
Total 13 5,000,000  100.00 

 
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.11 on or before 29 January 2026 

Range 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

securities 
 % 

1                 -       1,000 - -  - 
1,001          -       5,000 - -  - 
5,001          -       10,000 - -  - 
10,001        -       100,000 - -  - 
100,001               and over 1 1,500,000  100.00 
Total 1 1,500,000  100.00 
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6. UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS 
As at 25 September 2024 the following classes of unquoted securities had holders with equal to or more than 20% of 
that class on issue: 

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.20 on or before 29 January 2026   Interest (%) 
ARQ CAPITAL PTY LTD   25.00 
CALADENIA MINERALS PTY LTD   25.00 
MIO ENTERPRISES PTY LTD   25.00 
SAINTER NOMINEES PTY LTD   25.00 
    
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.25 on or before 26 October 2026   Interest (%) 
JEREMY JOHN BALDOCK   20.00 
IML HOLDINGS PTY LTD   50.00 
    
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.18 on or before 8 November 2025   Interest (%) 
MR MARTIN ROSS HELEAN   25.00 
MIO ENTERPRISES PTY LTD   44.00 
PENINSULA INVESTMENTS (WA) PTY LTD   25.00 
    
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.11 on or before 29 January 2026   Interest (%) 
JOANNE GREEN   100.00 
    
    

7. TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 
The twenty largest holders of ordinary fully paid shares at 25 September 2024 are set out below: 

 
Name 

Number of 
ordinary shares 

held 
%IC 

1 MR ALEXANDER CASEY WALKER 6,428,571 4.60 
1 TIMUR MERGENOV VILLA 263 SIDRA 1 6,428,571 4.60 
1 MR ALMAT DAUMOV 6,428,571 4.60 
2 MR MARK STEPHEN SAXON & MRS PAULA SAXON <RIDLEY SUPER FUND A/C> 5,600,000 4.01 
3 NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <SUPER SERVICES A/C> 5,179,604 3.71 
4 MR KENT BALAS 4,673,332 3.35 
5 NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <WRAP SERVICES A/C> 4,620,181 3.31 
6 MOLO CAPITAL PTY LTD <JAMIE MYERS FAMILY A/C> 4,400,000 3.15 
7 NEW ENERGY MINERALS AFRICA PTY LTD 3,453,138 2.47 
8 SYNDICATE MINERALS PTY LTD 3,056,000 2.19 
9 MR JOSHUA OSMOND MYERS 2,600,000 1.86 
10 MR SAMAT DAUMOV 2,142,858 1.53 
11 BLIGNAUT SUPERFUND PTY LTD <BLIGNAUT SUPER A/C> 2,088,006 1.49 
12 ITA NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,000,000 1.43 
13 PETERS INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 1,800,000 1.29 
14 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 1,694,138 1.21 
15 MR YULIANG FAN 1,430,000 1.02 
16 DAVY CORP PTY LTD <DAVY INVESTMENT A/C> 1,386,434 0.99 
17 ARQ CAPITAL PTY LTD <NITSCHE FAMILY A/C> 1,250,000 0.89 
18 MIO ENTERPRISES PTY LTD <MMJB FAMILY A/C> 1,218,813 0.87 
19 MR DARREN CRAIG GLOVER 1,166,667 0.84 
19 MR BENJAMIN LEIGH HARPER 1,166,667 0.84 
20 RICHMOND ADVISORY PTY LTD 1,111,905 0.80 
20 BLACK TROJAN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ONE TRIPLE ONE A/C> 1,111,905 0.80 

 Total 72,435,361 51.86 
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8. RESTRICTED SECURITIES 
There are no restricted securities on issue 
 

9. ON-MARKET BUY-BACK 
There is no current on-market buy-back. 
 

10. MINING TENEMENT INTERESTS 
Current interests in tenements held by C29 Metals Limited and its subsidiaries at 25 September 2024 are listed below: 
 

Project Area km2 Tenement ID Interest Location 

Mayfield 91 EPM19483 100% QLD, Australia 

Sampsons Tank 93 EL8525 100% NSW, Australia 

Reedy Creek 40 EL8541 100% NSW, Australia 

Torrens North 677 EL6741 100% SA, Australia 

Ulytau Uranium Project 276 
#1860-EL,  
#2786-EL  
#2826-EL 

100% Kazakhstan 
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